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& Blue Cross et al

THE HONORABLE JOHN C. COUGHENOUH

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
WESTERNDISTRICT OFWASHINGTON
AT SEATTLE

PETER B, individually and as guardian of CASE NO.C16-19043CC
M.B., a minor,
ORDERON CROSSMOTIONS

Plaintiff, FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT
V.

PREMERA BLUE CROS&t al.,

Defendans.

This matter comes before the Court on Defendants’ motion for summary judgrként
No. 37) andPlaintiff's cross-motion for summary judgment (Dkt. No. 42). Having thoroughly
considered the parties’ briefing, the relevant recandfinding oral argumentinnecessaryhe
CourtherebyGRANTS Defendants’ motion for summary judgment (Dkt. No. 37) BENIES
Plaintiff's crossmotion for summary judgment (Dkt. No. 4@y the reasons explained herein.
l. BACKGROUND

Plaintiff brings thiscause of actioagainst his employer, Microsoft Corporatiats;
employee welfare plafiPlan”); andthe PlanAdministrator, Premera Bluer@ss ¢€adlectively
“Defendants”) (Dkt. No. 2.)Plaintiff asserts Defendantseachedhe terms of the Plan and
violatedthe Employee Retirement Income Security Act (‘ERISA”), 29 U.S.C. § #8084,
when they failedo payfor continued sulacute psychologicaksidentiatreatmenfor Plaintiff's
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dependent son, M.B., and failed to provide a full and fair review of die@ial decision.I{. at
8-9.)

M.B. was diagnosgwith Asperger’s Disorder, Obsessive Compulsive Disorder,

Persistent Depressive Disorder, amgpairedsocial functioning. (Dkt. No. 2 at 6.) On the advi¢

of mental health professials, Plaintiff admittedM.B. to Daniels Academy{‘Daniels”), asub-
acute psychogical residential treatment facility, on January 1, 2015. (Dkt. No. 2 &rémera
madepaymento Danielsunder the Plafor services rendereidom January 1 through March 1]
2015. (Dkt. No. 2 at 6 premera themformedPlaintiff it would make no further payment to
Daniels becausiirthertreatmentat Danielsvould not meet Plan requirementsb&sng
“medically necessary(Dkt. No. 39-2 at 2.)

Plaintiff internally appealed Premeralecision. (Dkt. No. 2 at 6Bremeradeniedthe
appealissuing is final determinatiomn October 2, 2015. (Dkt. No. 39-3 at 15.) On January
2016,Plaintiff informed Premera that he wished to avail himsethdérnalreview by an
Independent Review Organization (“IRO”), as mandated by Revised Code of Washingt
Section48.43.535(Dkt. Nos. 2 at 7, 42 at 19.) Paul Hartman, M.D., performed the review,
issuing findings on February 12, 2016. (Dkt. No. 39-3 at 27.) He concluded M.B. did not h
acute conditionaquiring residential care and therefemtinuedesidential treatment was not
“medically necessary.d. at 25-26.)

Following IRO reviewPlaintiff brought suiagainst Defedantsfor Plan anl ERISA
violationswith the District Court for the District of Utalwho transferred the case to this Cour
(Dkt. No. 12.) Plaintiff and Defendant now move for summary judgment (Dkt. Nos. 37, 42)
. DISCUSSION

A. Legal Standard

ERISA, 29 U.S.C. § 1132(a)(1)(B), providms employe@ cause of action for the
improper denial of benefits under an dayge welfare planvoyle v. Liberty Mut. Ret. Ben.

Plan, 823 F.3d 948, 956 (9th Cir. 2018ne Caurt, in reviewingthe administrative record fer
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plan administrator’'slenialdecision, applies de novo standard of review “unless the plan
provides to the contraryPirestone Tire & Rubber Co. v. Bruch, 489 U.S. 101, 115 (1989j.
the plangrants the administrator “discretionary authority to determine eligibility foetus”
the administrator’slecision is reviewed for an abuse of discretidnWhether aradminstrator
abused its discretion is a question of law, not fdotan v. Heald Coll., 551 F.3d 1148, 1154
(9th Cir.2009). A motion for summary judgment is “the conduit to bring [that] legal questio
before the district coudnd the usual tests of summary judgment, such as whether a genui
dispute of material fact exists, do not appBendixen v. Sandard Ins. Co., 185 F.3d 939, 942
(9th Cir.1999).

Plaintiff and Defendants disagrer what standard of review applig®kt. Nos. 37 at 9,
42 at 11.Basedon the the Plan Instrument (Dkt. No. 48-1), the Summary Plan Description
No. 48-2), and the Master Administrative Services Contract between Microsofteandr
(Dkt. No. 39-1), the Court concludes that #wministrative recordhould be reviewetbr an
abuse of discretiofRremera, acting dan Administrator on Microsoft’'s behalf, possesses
sufficient discretionary authoritynder the Plas

Plaintiff contendsle novo review should apply because the Court cannot confider
Plan’s governing documentasthey are not part of the administrative record. (Dkt. No. 42 at

12.) This assertion is untenable and unsupported by legal authdntgdministrative record

! See (Dkt. No. 48-1 at 15) (thBlan Administratopossesses “sole discretionary
authority to . . . determine eligibility for an amount of benefits for any Baant’ and to
“delegate and allocate, specific responsileitiobligations and duties imposed by the Plan, t
.. . persons as tli&an Administratodeems appropriate.”)id. at 15-16) (“Any interpretation
or construction of or action by tidan Administratowith respect to the Plan and its
administration shébe conclusive.”);if. at 16) (“Benefits under this Plan will be paid only if
thePlan Administratodecides in his discretion that the claimant is entitled to them.); (Dkt. N
48-2 at 20) (thé’lan Administratofhas the exclusive responsibility andhgplete discretionary
authority to control the operation and administration of this plan . . . including, but not limit
the power to construe and interpret the terms of this summary plan descriptiory arigeamplan
documentation.”); (Dkt. No. 39-1 at 5) (“The Plan Sponsor shall have final discretionary
authority to determine eligibility for benefits and the amount to be paid by thetbenefi
program(s).”).
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includes all facts known to dgm administrator at the time of theministrator’s deision. See,
e.g., Jonesv. Aetna U.S Healthcare, 136 F. Supp. 2d 1122, 1132 (C.D. Cal. 206i8fon v. AT
& TlInc., 709 F.3d 343, 352 (4th Cir. 2013t v. Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Ala., Inc., 890
F.2d 1137, 1139 (11th Cir. 1989hePlan’s goerning documentsurely represented facts

know to Premera. Without them it would have been unable to make benefit determinations

consistent with Plan standards.

Plaintiff alsocontendghatde novo review should applipecause IR@eview is aroption
mandatedy state lawsee Wash. Rev. Code § 48.43.52%\d therefore Washington has
effectively removed the Plan Administrator’s discretionary authoritit.(Ro. 44 at 9 (citing
K.F. exrdl. Fry v. Regence Blueshield, C08-0890-RSL, slip op., at *2 (W.D. Wash. Sept. 10,
2008)). This Court does not fillaintiff’'s argumentpersuasive in light ofox v. Providence
Health Plan, 659 Fed. Appx. 941, 943—-44 (9th Cir. 20{®Viewing a plan administrator’s
benefit denial decision for an abuse of discreti@spite the existence of a comparable IRO
review mandate).

Normally, the standard for an abuse of discretion is higblaA administratoabuses its
discretion when its decisiaa “(1) illogical, (2) implausible, or (3) without support in inferenct
thatmay be drawn from the facts in the recor@alomaa v. Honda Long Term Disability Plan,
642 F.3d 666, 676 (9th Cir 201 However, where a plan administrator is also the insurer, as
the case here, a more searching analysis is requiteat.674.The Court must consider case-
specific factors such as “the administrator’s conflict of intgréds¢ “quality and quantity of
medical evidence,” and whether “the administrator provided its independent exjblerdd of
the relevant evidenceMontour v. Hartford Life & Acc. Ins. Co., 588 F.3d 623, 630 (9th Cir.
2009) (citingMetro. LifeIns. Co. v. Glenn, 554 U.S. 105, 118 (2008)) (internal quotatiomerks
omitted).A court must make “something akin to a credibility deternnomesibout the insurance

companys or plan administrator’s reason for denying coverage under a particulanglan a
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particular set of medical and other recordsbétie v. Alta Health & Life Ins. Co., 458 F.3d 955,
969 (9th Cir. 2006).

B. Premera’s Coverage Determination

Plaintiff conendsthatPremera’slenial of coverage is not supported by the terms of t
Plan and that by giving shifting rationales for denyoayerage, Premeégadecision was
arbitrary and capriciougDkt. No. 42 at 13, 16.) Defendants counter Br@mera’s coverage
decision was consistent with Plan requirements and that no evidlesitéting rationales for
denying coveragexists (Dkt. No. 43 at 4, 5, 13.) The Court agrees with Defendants.

1. Consistency with Plan Requirements

Premeraapproved payment under the Plan¥bB.’s treatment at Danielsom January
1 through March 11, 2015. (Dkt. No. 2 at 6.) At that pdinemeradid not approvéurther
payment to Daniels because it deemesidentiakreatment no longer “medically necessary.”
(Dkt. No 39-2 at 2.) Tie Planonly covers‘medicaly necessarytreatment(Dkt. No. 384 at
44.) Treatment iSmedically necessaryif it produces sufficient evidence to “draw conclusion
about the positive effect of the health intervention on health outcordedt @6)

In its March 11, 2015nitial benefit determination lettePremeraxplainedthat for
M.B.’s residentiapsychologicatreatment to be “medically necessary,” it must also meet thg
Plan’s requirements for sherm residential psychological stabilization treatmeohsistent
with policy number 3.01.508 (Dkt. No. 39-2 a} According to policy number 3.01.508,

Behavioral Health: Psychiatric Residential Treatment, “medically necesstatyfization

treatments “generally considered to eare of]90 days or less, or up to 150 days for clinically

extenuating cas€s(Dkt. No. 38-1at 48) Premera noteth its benefit determination letter that
M.B.’s “stay [at Daniels] is expected to be 14 moritfiBkt. No. 39-2 at 2.Dn its face,
Premera’snitial benefit determination was consistent with Plan requirements.

On September 3, 201BJaintiff notified Premera thate wished to appeal thaitial

benefit decision(Dkt. No. 2 at 6.)n support otis appeal Plaintiff provided adetailed history
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of M.B.’s development and behavigsuegDkt. No. 42 at 8); a letter from Peter Weiss, MA,
LMHC, who treated M.B. for a nine-month period ending in September, #tlidating that
M.B. needed “more support and intensive care than he could receive in an outpatiefit setti
(Dkt. No. 39-3 at 5); notes from Steve Debois, Ph.D., who treated M.B. at a 90 day wilderr
program from September 30, 20tb4January 1, 2015ndicating that “if any logerm [sic] gains
are to be madgrom the treatment he receivatithe wilderness progranfM.B.] must be in a
residential treatment setting” (Dkt. No. 44 at 11) (quotingliigation record
PRE_BER000280); and a letter from Douglas Maughan, LCMHC, who treated M.B. during
stay at Danielbeginning on January 1, 2015 (Dkt. No. 39-3 atvgughan’s letter, dated
August 11, 201%,recommendethatM.B.’s treatmentt a residential level of cabe continued.
(Id. at 3)

Under policy number 3.01.50&r continued indefinite residential treatment to be
medically necessary, the patient must have “impaired functioning . . . thatese4ii7
containment and treatment” witbhbservable clinical progress” within “thirty days.” (Dkt. No.
38-1 at 49.) Increased “participation in treatment . . . discussion of problems er.issugsight
.. . working on past or present issuesare.not to be considered to be clinical progress in the
absence of symptom reduction, functional improvement, or improvement in behavioral co
(Id.) (emphasis added).

As part of the internal appeal process, Premera engaged an independent physiciar]
William Holmes M.D., to review the case and opine on whether continued residargiavas
“medically necessary” for M.B. sadefined by the Plan. (Dkt. Nos. 37 at 7, 39-3 ab8).

Holmes concluded thaésidentiakcare was not “medicigl necessarybecause “[t]here is no

2 Plaintiff provided Premera a second letter from Maughan, dated January 23, 2016
purpose®f the IRO review(Dkt. Nos. 44 at 14, 49 at 8)-(citing prelitigation record
PRE_BER000692-93Rut Premera would not have seen this letter prior to makiripnéb
benefit determination on October 2, 2015. (Dkt. No. 39-3 atTIejeforejt is notrelevant in
considering whether Premera abused its discretion in making a final beteriibidation.

ORDER ON CROSS/10TIONS FOR SUMMARY
JUDGMENT

C16-1904JCC

PAGE- 6

ng

1€SS

) his

itrol.”

, for




© 00O N o o A W N P

NN NN NN R R R R R R R R R R
OO 00 N N -, OO 00 N oY 010NN 0 N -RE O

evidence of consistent improvement with the use of [sic] residential treater@st, and there i
no clea idea when improvement might occur.” (Dkt. No. 39-3 at 9.) According to Dr. Holme
while “[t]he patient is in need of chronic treatment . . . this does not need to takeplaee
residential treatment settingId( at 11.) He also noted that “ongoipgblems irnthe residential
setting maked clear that the patient is not displaying the continued improvement from
residential treatment . . . [t]he patient’'s ongoing level of difficulty revibaselative lack of
benefit from the residential settifigld. at 10.)

Perhaps the most relevant piece of the recokthughan’s August 11, 2018tter. He
indicates thaM.B. had achievedhat Maughan described #e first clinical treatment step
taking “accountability and responsibility for his choices eatihan assigning blame to externa
things or people.” (Dkt. No. 39-3 at 3.) Bug alsandicates that M.B. “continues to struggle
daily and engages in continual boundary testing, pushing and crossing . . . [M.B.] cogsistg
needs redirection and teasfiaround healthy and appropriate choices and spends an inord
amount of time with these two precautions . . 1d”)(Furthermore théobservable clinical
progress” Maughan describieshis letterlacks an‘absence of symptom reduction, functional
improvement, or improvement in behavioral controbi+equirementinder policy number
3.01.508 for continued residential treatment. (Dkt. No. 38-1 at 49.)

Dr. Hartman’s IRO review, while occurring after Premera’s finaktiedetermination, is
informative Dr. Hartman reviewed37 documents related to M.B.’s case. (Dkt No. 39-3 at 2
23.) Based on these documeilds, Hartman concluded that further residential care was “not
medically necessary” because M.Bcndition has “stabilized to a baseline behavistaie”
and his “clinical status as documented did not indicate the necessity for 24 hou( daa¢25—
26.)

On this basis, the Court finds that Premera’s final benefit decision, dated Qgt@ba7
(Dkt. No. 39-3 at 15)wasconsistent with Plarequirements.

I
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2. Shifting Rationales

Anotherfactor indetermining ifPremera abused its discretiomilsetherit shifted its
grounds for denialSalomaa, 642 F.3d at 679. Doing so would “preclude the participant ‘fror
responding to that rational for denial at the administrative level,” and insulattitheale from
administrative review.Gabriel v. Alaska Elec. Pension Fund, 773 F.3d 945, 963 (9th Cir. 2014
(quotingAbatie, 458 F.3cat 974). Plaintiff asserts that each time Premera notified him of its
coverage determinatioRremera asserted a “difent rational for why M.B.’s residential
treatment . . . was not medically necessgikt. No. 42 at 17.) The Court disags.

Premera’s initiabenefitdeterminatiorwas basednwhat the Plan requirder

medicallynecessary shoeterm residential stabilization treatmert duration less than 150 days.

(Dkt. No. 39-2 at 2.Premera’dinal benefit determinatiowas based owhatthe Plan requires
for medicallynecessary indefinite residential treatmewtinical progressvithin a thirty day
period. (Dkt. No. 3® at 15.)These are nathifting rationalesBoth relateto the same issue
whetherresidential treamentwas medically necessamnder policy number 3.01.508. (Dkt. No
38-1 at 48—49.Any change in rationale wasasonablereflecing changed circumstances
implicating a differentsection of policy number 3.01.508s M.B. continued treatment at
Daniels more informatim becameavailablefor afinal benefitdeterminatior—much of it
provided by Plaintiff. (Dkt. No. 2 at 8Mlaughan’sAugust 11, 201%etter is particularly
instructive.lt gives no timeline whealinical progress will be madether than to indicate that
M.B. will “soon start making choices that will diminish the need for cowacti(Dkt. No. 39-3
at 3.) This is not consistent with the 30-day requirement for clinical progm@adgul by policy
number 3.01.508.

The Court finds as follow$?remera’s coveragdeterminations/ere consistenwith Plan
requirementsPremeraelied on thedviceof anindependent physician making its final
coveragealecisionthere is no evidence shifting rationalesandthe IROreviewvalidated

Premera’s final benefit determinatiddn this basis, the Court sees no indication Bratnes’s
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potential conflict of interest resultedam abuse of discretion

C. ERISA CONSIDERATIONS

Under ERISA, Plaintiff was entitled #onotice of denidisetting forth the specific
reasons for such denial, written in a manner calculated to be understood’nbiyf Péand a
“reasonable opportunity . . . for a full and fair review by the . . . fiduciary of thelalecienying
the claim.” 29 U.S.C. § 113®laintiff claims that Premera violated ERISA whensed shifting
rationales to deny coverage, failed to respond to information provided durimgetimal appeal,
and did not provide an adequate explanation of the fragts final benefit determinatior{Dkt.
No. 42 at 19.) The Court has already addressed the shifting rationalesessupra Part 11.B.2,
anddisagrees with Plaintiff sharacterization of Premera’s communications

Premera notified Plaintiff of its initial benefit determination on Marth2015. (Dkt.
No. 39-2 at 2.) That notification indicated the basis of its dertiat-the extended anticipated
term of M.B.’s residential treatment precluded a finding of medical négessler the Plan’s
shortterm stabilization guidelines, as providegpolicy number 3.01.5081d.) It further
indicated that it made this decision based upon a review of information provided bysDanie

(Id.) Following an internal appeal at Plaintiff's request, Premera then notifiediflaf its final

benefitdetermination on October 2, 2015. (Dkt. No. 39-3 at 15.) The notification also indicated

the basis of its denialack ofclinical improvement precluded a finding of medical necessit
under the Plan’s guidelines for continued coverage, as provided by policy number 3.0d.50

Premera included copy oftheexternalreviewer’sreportwith its final determination

correspondenc® Plaintiff. (Id. at 18.)The reviewes report, in turn, indicated that his findings

werebased on the informatidPlaintiff providedto PremeraM.B.’s medical records, and Plan
guidelines. [d. at 7.)

On this basis, the Court finds tHatemeradequatelyonsideredhe information
Plaintiff submittedandadequatly explainedts benefit determinati@to Plaintiff. The Court

sees no basis to conclude Premera violated ERISA.
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1. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasorbe Court GRANT®efendant’anotion forsummary
judgment (Dkt. No. 37and DENIESPIlaintiff’'s crossmotion for summary judgment (Dkt. No.
42).Plaintiff's claims are dimissed witlprejudice. The Clerk is DIRECTED to close this case.

DATED this 26th day of October 2017.

7 /
John C. Coughenour
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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